FILED

SAN MATEO COUNTY
DEC19

_ of Me Siike
DEPUTY CL

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SAN MATEO
COMPLEX CIVIL LITIGATION |
MARYAM ABRISHAMCAR and Case No. CIV 535490
KAVIKAPUT, | PAGA REPRESENTATIVE ACTION
Plaintiffs, ' ' Assigned for All Purposes to

Hon. Marie S. Weiner, Dept. 2
Vs.
ORDERING DENYING MOTION

ORACLE AMERICA, INC., and Does 1 TO COMPEL ARBITRATION AND
through 100, inclusive, MOTION TO DISMISS CASE
Defendants.

On September 27, 2022, hearing was held on Defendant.’s Motion to Compel
Arbitration of Plaintiffs’ Individual PAGA Claims and to Dismiss the Representative
PAGA Claims in Department 2 of this Court before the Honorable Marie S. Weiner.
Laura Ho, James Kan and Ginger Grimes of Goldstein Borgen Dardarian & Ho, Xinying
Valerian of Valerian Law PC, and Michael Palmer, Meredith Firetog and Danielle
Fuschetti of Sanford Heisler Sharp LLP appeared on behalf of Plaintiffs Maryam

Abrishamcar and Kavi Kapur; and Brendan Dolan, Lucky Meinz, and Lowell Ritter of



Sheppard Mullin Richter & Hampton LLP appeared on behalf of Defendant Oracle
America Inc.

Upon due consideration of the briefs and evidence pfesented, and all filings and
records in this caée, and having presided over the court trial already held in this action,
and the oral arguments of counsel for thé parties, and having taken the matter under
submission,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED as follows:

Defendant’s motion to compel arbitration of the “individual” PAGA claims of the
named Plaintiffs is DENIED. Defendant’s motion to dismiss all PAGA Representative

claims is DENIED. Defendant’s requests for judicial notice are GRANTED.

THE COURT FINDS as follows:
Procedural History of this Case
On June 23, 2014, the California Supreme Court issued its decision in_Iskanian

v. CLS Transportation Los Angeles LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4™ 348, holding that PAGA

representative claims seeking recovery of civil penalties under the Labor Code are not
individual claims, bﬁt rather are claims only belonging to the State, and that an individual
employee cannot waive the rights of the State or contractually commit PAGA
representative claims to arbitration.

This PAGA Representative Action was filed by Plaintiff Maryan Abrishamcar
against Defendant Oracle America Inc. on Sep-tember 18, 2015. This Abrishamcar case
has only ever alleéed PAGA civil penalty claims, and was never brought as direct claims

for damages or for any certification as a class action.



After hearing and decision on Defendant Oracle’s Demurrér and Motion to Strike
‘as to the Complaint, Defendant Oracle filed an Answer to the Complaint on February 5,
2016. Although Defendant referenced the contractﬁal arbitration prdvisioné in a footnote
in the Motion to Strike, Defendant did not allege an affirmative defense of right to
‘arbitration. Defendant acknowledged that California law held that there was no right to
arbitration of the PAGA claims. |

At the Complex Cése Management Conference held onl February 8,2017, a
Court Trial was set to commence August 13,2018. (See CMC Order #9.)

Plaintiffs filed a First Amended Complaint, after a contested motion for leave to
amend, on February 9, 2018, in order to add a representative plaintiff who had claims
for a later time period than existing Plaintiff Abrishamcar. Defendant filed an Answer to
the First Amended Complaint on February 23, 2018. Defendant did not allege any
affirmative defense of right to arbitration. |

On February‘ 21, 2018, Plaintiffs and Defendant filed parallel Section 437¢
motions on the issue of Labor _Codé Section 2751 and the duty to provide an employee
with a signed copy of the employment agreement containing the tefms of commissions.

Courlt Trial was originally set to commence on August 13, 2018.

Pﬁrsuant to request and stipulation of counsel for the parties at the Complex Case
Management Confegence held on March 22, 2018, the Court Trial and all pretrial dates
and deadlines were continued, with trial then set for January 21,2019. (See CMC Order
#15.)

By order issued April 4, 2018, the Courf granted the motion for summary
adjudication of issues in favor of Plaintiff Maryam Abrishamcar, determining on the

merits that Plaintiff had proven on undisputed evidence that she is an “aggrieved
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employee” as to whom Defendant Oracle America Inc. violated California Labor Code
Section 2751 by failing to provide Plaintiff with a signed commission agreement, and
thus she may seek civil penalties under the California Private Atfomeys General Act,
Labor Code §§ 2698, et seq. (See CMC Order #16.)

On October 1, 2018, Stipulation and Order was entered, as a follow-up to the
Conference held September 18, 2018, whereby the parties stipulated to have the PAGA
claims adjudicated in three phases of Court Trial, instead of a single trial. Specifically,
the parties stipulated (i) to have adjudication of the temporal scope of the PAGA case by
briefed motion; (ii) that the Phase One Court Trial would adjudicate whether Defendant
violated Labor Code Section 2751(b) and/or Section 232.5 and/or Section 2751(a); (iii)
that the Phase Two Court Trial would adjudicate “any issue in Phase 1 that the Court
determines were not completed in that Phase” and also adjudicate whether Defendant
violated Labor Code Section 2751(a) and (b) in regard to backdating, and/or violated
. Labor Code Section 204 and/or Section 221 and/or Section 226(a) and/or Section 432.5;
and (iv) that the Phase Three Court Trial would determine the number of violations af
any are found) that trigger a civil penalty and the exercise of the Court’s discfetion to
assessing the civil penalties to be imposed.

Pursuant to stipulation of counsel for the parties, simultaneous Section 437¢
motions were ﬁléd and heard regarding the temporal scope of this PAGA action. The
Court made the following detailed adjudication of the issues as follows, as set forth in
CMC Order #17 issued December 7, 2018:

This Court finds that under the express language of the PAGA
statute, the time period for prosecution of claims under PAGA for liability

against the employer and potential award of statutory penalties against the
employer for violation of the Labor Code is as follows:



¢ All individuals (as defined or limited by the LWDA notice or the
complaint) who were employees of the defendant employer at any time
during the period one year before a LWDA pre-litigation notice up to the
date of filing the complaint (or amending an existing complaint) alleging a
cause of action under PAGA are “represented” by the PAGA plaintiff
(hereinafter the “represented employees™) -

e The employer is liable for any identified violations of the Labor Code (as
identified in the pre-litigation LWDA notice) actually committed against
that same group of represented employees (or subset thereof) during that
same. time period.

e If an employee falls within the group of represented employees and a
violation of the Labor Code was committed by the employer against
him/her at least once during that same time period, if that same violation
continues to be committed against that same employee, then civil penalties
may be assessed and calculated based upon the first violation during that
time period and each successive occurrence of that violation, even if the
subsequent violation occurs after the filing of the complaint (or
amendment of the complaint to add the PAGA cause of action).

Thus, the PAGA statutes (and statute of limitations) looks at (1) the scope
of the employees “represented”, which becomes fixed as of the date of
filing the complaint or amending to add the PAGA claim, (2) the earliest
possible starting date of liability and penalties as one year before the pre-
litigation LWDA notice; and (3) the latest ending date of liability and
penalties as when that violative behavior by the employer stops against
those same represented employees.

Here, the complaint was originally filed by Plaintiff Maryam
Abrishamcar and asserted a claim under PAGA. Subsequently, the
complaint was amended to add Plaintiff Kavi Kapur and the PAGA cause
of action was expanded to a time period based upon Kapur’s later pre-
litigation notice to LWDA for the same Labor Code violations.

Applying the law to this case:

Individuals employed by Defendant Oracle America Inc. as sales
personnel subject to an Incentive Compensation Plan (for payment of
commissions) at any time during the time period July 24, 2014 to
September 18, 2015 are represented by Plaintiff Maryam Abrishamcar in
prosecution of violations of the Labor Code! under PAGA (hereinafter the
“Abrishamcar aggrieved employees”). Defendant may be subject to
liability and civil penalties for any such Labor Code violations committed
against each and any of the Abrishamcar aggrieved employees
(specifically and only as to that group of people) during the time period

1 Both Plaintiffs have served pre-litigation notices to the LWDA and alleged in
. their complaint(s) violations of Labor Code Sections 201, 202, 203, 204, 221, 226, 232.5,
432.5 and 2751. :



July 24,2014 to September 18, 2015. If such Labor Code violation was
subsequently (or continued to be) committed by Defendant employer
against the same employee thereafter, civil penalties may continue to be
assessed and imposed upon the Defendant until the violative behavior
ceases as to that employee.

Individuals employed by Defendant Oracle America Inc. as sales
personnel subject to an Incentive Compensation Plan (for payment of
commissions) at any time during the time period October 30, 2016 to

- February 9, 2018 are represented by Plaintiff Kavi Kapur in prosecution of
violations of the Labor Code under PAGA (hereinafter the “Kapur
aggneved employees™). Defendant may be subject to liability and civil
penalties for any such Labor Code violations committed against each and
any of the Kapur aggrieved employees (specifically and only as to that
group of people) during the time period October 30, 2016 to February 9,
2018. If such Labor Code violation was subsequently (or continued to be)
committed by Defendant employer against the same employee thereafter,
civil penalties may continue to be assessed and imposed upon the
Defendant until the violative behavior ceases as to that employee.

Consequently, any sales commission personnel who were
employed by Defendant only during the time periods (i) before July 24,
2014, (ii) after February 9, 2018, and/or (iii) between September 19, 2015
and October 29, 2016, are not the subject of this PAGA lawsuit, and no
liability of the Defendant or imposition of civil penalties may be
adjudicated at trial or evidence presented at trial as to those employees.

As a practical matter, in order to prepare for trial including

preparation of expert witness opinions and necessary calculations and

assembly of data, there needs to be a cut-off date for any alleged

continuous violation as to any Abrishamcar aggrieved employees or Kapur

aggrieved employees. Plaintiffs have stipulated to an end date of May 31,

2018, which this Court accepts and imposes.

In January 2019, this Court made rulings on the multiple motions in limine filed
by the parties for the Phase One Court Trial, as well as evidentiary rulings on objections
to deposition testimony. (See Trial Orders #1 and #2.)

Commencing January 22, 2019, a Phase One Court Trial was held, including
presentation of trial testimony, deposition testimony, and trial exhibits. The Court issued

its Tentative Decision on August 7, 2019, stating in substantive part:

1. Plaintiffs have proven by a preponderance of the evidence
that Defendant Oracle violated Labor Code Section 2751(b), in that
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Defendant employer -- as a consistent business practice - failed to give
the commissioned employee “a signed copy of the contract” during the
time period June 1, 2014 through May 31, 2016. Thus all Oracle
employees in California subject to Incentive Compensation Plans at any
time during the time period June 1, 2014 through May 31, 2016, are
“aggrieved employees” under PAGA, for this violation. Evidence was
presented and facts stipulated demonstrating that Defendant Oracle did not
sign any Comp Plans during FY15 and FY16, which is the time period
June 1, 2014 through May 31, 2016. The evidence is undisputed that
Defendant Oracle did electronically sign the ICPs/ICAs for FY17 and
FY18, and thus Defendant did not violate Section 2751 during those time
periods.

2. Defendant Oracle did not violate Labor Code Section
2751(a) -~ which requires a written contract of employment where “the
contemplated method of payment of the employee involves commissions,”
and that the written contract “set forth the method by which the
commissions shall be computed and paid” — simply because its Comp
Plans included vague provisions for the exercise of discretion. If
commissions were actually calculated and paid using the specific methods,
terms, components, percentages, multipliers, accelerators, and .
mathematics stated in the Comp Plan, there is no violation of Section
2751. On the other hand, Plaintiffs have proven by a preponderance of the
evidence that the calculation and payment of commissions, in some
individual and discrete circumstances, was done pursuant to vague
verbiage in the T&C involving the exercise of “discretion,” and/or was
done pursuant to internal policies, procedures, or methods not specifically
stated in the Comp Plan itself (i.e., the ICP and the T&C). As to those
employees whose commission compensation was calculated and paid (or
not paid) based upon the exercise of discretion or based up internal
policies, practices or procedures not contained within the Comp Plan
itself, Plaintiffs have made a prima facie showing by the preponderance of
the evidence that those constitute a violation of Section 2751(a); and that
such particular employees are aggrieved employees under PAGA.

3. Plaintiffs failed to prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that Defendant violated Section 2751(b) on the basis that
Defendant allegedly failed to provide a written “receipt” to commissioned
employees of their signed Comp Plans. Evidence was presented that
Defendant has an established electronic system whereby an employee has
an electronic record (which can constitute a “receipt”) of his/her “signed”
Comp Plan, including the date and time.

4. It is undisputed that the Comp Plans include a
confidentiality clause. Plaintiffs have failed to prove that the terms of the
Comp Plan constitute “working conditions”, and thus have failed to prove
by a preponderance of the evidence a violation by Defendant of Labor
Code Section 232.5 specifically. On the other hand, Plaintiffs have proven
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by a preponderance of the evidence that these identical facts and claims
violate the Labor Code, specifically Section 232, as the terms of the Comp
Plan pertain to “wages,” including commissions. That law prohibits an
employer from barring employees from disclosing their wages and pay
structure, which Defendant Oracle violated by requiring that its Comp
Plans, including the ICPs and T&Cs be deemed highly confidential and
requiring in writing that employees agree to keep it confidential. Thus all
Oracle employees in California subject to Incentive Compensation Plans
(ICP or ICA) at any time during the time period July 24, 2014 through
May 31, 2018, are “aggrieved employees” under PAGA, for this violation.

In October 2019, and thereafter, this Court made rulings on the multiple motions
‘in limine filed by the parties for the Phase Two Court Trial. (See Trial Orders #4, #5 and
#6.) |

Thereafter, commencing November 4, 2019, the Phase Two Court Trial
proceeded (c;)ntinuing into January 2020), including presented of trial testimony,
deposition testimony, and trial éxhibits, and extensive post-trial closing argument briefs
(the timing of which was complicated by the Pandemic). The Court issued its Tentative
Decision on November 6, 2020, making determinations on the merits, stating in
substantive part:

1. Plaintiffs have proven by a preponderance of the evidence
that Defendant Oracle violated Labor Code Section 2751(a) when
Defendant failed to provide to any commissioned employee a written
contract setting forth the method by which the commission s shall be
computed and paid prior to the time that the commissioned employee first
started performing services for Oracle. Evidence was presented that
Defendant Oracle has an intentional business practice of never providing
the Individual Compensation Plan stating the commission rates and sales
target and never providing the Terms and Conditions thereto to any
putative employee until they actually started working at Oracle. Evidence
was presented that typically and usually a new employee subject to
commission-based compensation would start performing sales services at
Oracle before receiving any ICP or T&C documents.

2. Plaintiffs have failed to prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that Defendant Oracle violated Labor Code Section 2751 when
Defendant issued new/revised ICPs and Ts&Cs to existing commissioned
employees, with an effective date prior fo the date of actual issuance
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thereof. Subsection b provides: “In the case of a contract that expires and

where the parties nevertheless continue to work under the terms of the
expired contract, the contract terms are presumed to remain in full force

and effect until the contract is superseded or employment is terminated by

. either party.” Evidence was presented that Defendant Oracle issues
new/amended ICPs and Ts&Cs at the beginning of each fiscal year, which
specifically state that it expires on the date which is the end of that fiscal
year. Evidence was presented that intentionally waits to give its existing

“commissioned employees the new fiscal year ICPs and Ts&Cs until
several days after the actual beginning of the new fiscal year. In the
interim, the commissioned employee may engage in sales efforts for
which he/she is entitled to a commission. If there was no new contract,
then the law provides that the employee would be entitled to commissions
under the terms of the expired ICP. But the evidence presented
demonstrates that these commissioned employees agreed to a new ICP
with a “back dated” effective date instead. This would constitute a
“superseding” contract, and isnot illegal to use an effective date prior to
the actual date the contract was signed. As this is a PAGA case seeking
civil penalties for statutory violations of the Labor Code, the fact that such
business practices may be unfiir to the employee is not the issue — the
employee could have refused the new contract and demanded/sued for the
commissions under the terms of the expired contract.

3. Plaintiffs have proven by a preponderance of the evidence
that Defendant Oracle violated Labor Code Section 221, by taking back or
off-setting commissions already paid to the commissioned employee,
under certain circumstances. It depends upon whether the offset/take-back
is based upon conditions specifically stated as terms of the employment
contract. For example, the law allows commission offsets based upon
advances paid but a consumer fails to pay for the product. On the other
hand, the offset must be within a reasonable time. Evidence was presented
that Defendant Oracle stated in its Terms and Conditions that its business
practice to proceed with collections for non-payment after 90 days.
Reasonable delay in imposing offsets would be a violation of Section 221.
In addition, the basis of the offset must be a specific term of the
employment contract, and cannot be a vague, non-descript, ‘discretionary”
“condition”. Further, a commission cannot be offset on the basis of things
that are actually employer business expenses or the cost of doing business.
The assertion by Defendant Oracle that all commissions are advances and
are never final or “earned”, even years later, is rejected.

4. . Plaintiffs have failed to prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that Defendant Oracle’s business practice of paying commissions
45 days after the end of the month were the sale was made is a violation of
Labor Code Section 204. Evidence was presented that this was a
reasonable business practice and that the commissions were not
reasonably calculable prior thereto.



5. Plaintiffs have proven by a preponderance of the evidence
that Defendant Oracle’s business practice of exercising discretion to delay
the payment of commissions (more than the 45 days period) in order to
conduct additional “reviews”, e.g., reviews of “mega-deals”, or to impose
a “performance review”, is a violation of Labor Code Section 204. This is
a compounded violation when Defendant Oracle additionally freezes the
payment of commissions to that employee on other sales with other
customers, while it performs an “audit” or “review” of commissions on a
particular sale/deal.

6. Plaintiffs have failed to prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that Defendant Oracle violated Labor Code Sections 201, 202
and 203 regarding payment of wages upon termination.

7. Plaintiffs have failed to prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that Defendant Oracle violated Labor Code Section 226,
regarding accurate wage statements, by the above-stated violations.

8. Plaintiffs have failed to prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that Defendant Oracle violated Labor Code section 432.5 by the
above-stated violations.

9. As to Defendant Oracle’s affirmative defense that Plaintiffs
failed to exhaust administrative pre-litigation conditions of PAGA,
specifically Labor Code Section 2699.3(a)(1), requiring written notice to
the LWDA and the employer “of the specific provisions of [the Labor
Code] alleged to have been violated, including the facts and theories to
support the alleged violation:

(a)  Any alleged failure to exhaust as to a Section 226
violation is MOOT as this Court found no violation;

(b)  Plaintiffs adequately raised a violation of Section
432.5 in their LWDA notice, and thus adequately met PAGA’s pre-
litigation requirement; _

(©) Plaintiffs adequately raised a violation of Section
2751 in their LWDA notice, and thus adequately met PAGA’s pre-
litigation requirement.

At the Complex Case Management Conference held on September 21, 2021,

Counsel for the parties indicated that they wanted to have the Court adjudicate certain

sub-issues, prior to the Phase Three Court Trial. Counsel agreed to prepare and submit a

 stipulation identifying those sub-issues and setting a briefing schedule. Further, counsel

for the parties requested that trial be set in October 2022, but were not in agreement as to

the length of the trial, i.e., how many months it will take, and the Court advised that it
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might be considered to await the adjudication of the sub-issues. The Court indicated that
. a Trial Plan will be needed before the triai is set, and that the parties will need to meet
. and confer in that regard in the future before the setting of trial. (See CMC Order #23.)
At the Cdmplex Case Management Conference held November 30, 2021,
although. two Section 437c motions were already pending, Defendant indicated its
intention to ﬁle? a third motion on the basis that compensation plans providing for a
“bonus” are not é “commission” and thus there is no Labor Code violation. Counsel
were ordered to meet and confer regarding the briefing schedule and hearing date on that
fhird motion. (See:CMC Order #24.) -Déspite;, this order, the parties did not so as of the
CMC held January 25, 2022. (See CMC Order #25.) |
On December 15, 2021, the United States Supreme Court granted certiorari of the

California Court of Appeal unpublished decision in Viking River Cruises LLC v.

Moriana, thus considering the issue of whether the FAA preempts PAGA such that
| arbitration can be contractually compelled.

On March 15, 2022, hearing was held on multiple Section 437¢ motions.

At the Complex Case Management Conference held on April 5, 202-2, Defendant
indicated that it still intended to file another motion for summary adjudication regarding
“pool”/’bonus” compensation, but was not ready for setting a briefing schedule at this
time. Defendant requested the 6pportunity to file supplemental briefing on its pending

| moﬁon for summary judgment/adjudiéation, which was permitted. (See CMC Order
#26.)

In June 2022, the Court issued it order determining the motions for summary

adjudication heard in March 2022. The Court made the following determinations:

-The Privéte Attorney General Act allowing enforcement of the
Labor Code by private citizens on behalf of the State is set forth in Labor
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Code Sections 2698 ef seq. In regard to the present motions by the parties,
Section 2699(f)(2) states “For all provisions of this code except those for
which a civil penalty is specifically provided there is established a civil
penalty for a violation of these provisions, as follows: . . . (2) If, at the-
time of the alleged violation, the person employs one or more employees,-

- the civil penalty is one hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved
employee per pay period for the initial violation and two hundred
dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee per pay penod for each .

' subsequent violation.” (Bold added.)

- Plamt1ffs’ Motion for Summary Adjudication of the following
issue: “Civil penalties are available under the Private Attorneys General
~ Act for each aggrieved employee for each pay period in which the
employee is employed before Oracle issues a written commission contract;
and, separately, in which the employee is employed pursuant to an
- unsigned comm1ssxon contract.” is GRANTED IN PART.

Defendant Oracle’s Motion for Summary AdJud1cat1on of the
following issue: “Plaintiffs may recover, at most, a single penalty under
the Private Attorneys General Act in circumstances in which it is proven
- that Oracle violated Labor Code section 2751 by (1) failure to provide
employees with a commission agreement signed by Oracle, and (2) failure
to provide newly hired employees with a commission agreement before
they began working for Oracle. These violations are one time initial
violations of section 2751 that do not continue to accrue PAGA penalties
on a per pay perlod basis.” is DENIED. '

The Court holds that civil penalties under PAGA are available for
failure to issue a written commission contract per aggrieved employee per
pay period unti] Oracle issues a written commission contract for that
aggrieved employee (or their employment énds). The Court finds that the
express provision of the statute that civil penalties are “per pay period”
applies to the Labor Code Section 2751 violations alleged by Plaintiffs
againSt Defendant Oracle. Defendant’s argument that the Court should
ignore that express statutory language, and instead find only a smgle

violation for a single one-tune penalty, is re_| ected

Civil penalties under. PAGA are ava11able for failure of Oracle to.
provide a signed commission contract per aggrieved employee per pay
period until Oracle provides a signed written commission contract. This
must be taken in the proper-context, in that Oracle issues annual
commission contracts, and thus upon the expiration of that commission
contract, the violation as to that contract would end upon the issuance of
the new commission contract.

Oracle argues that the failure to provide a signed commission
contract should be treated as single violation only for the first pay period
that it occurs. Whether or not that is good policy is irrelevant — the
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Legislature has stated in PAGA that civil penalties are per pay period for
the violation. See Gikas v. Zolin (1993) 6 Cal.4™ 841, 851, 854 (“In
interpreting the language of a statute, we first turn to the words
themselves. [Citation.]”; “Absent constitutional constraints, when the
Legislature has established policy, it is not for the courts to differ.
[Citations.]”) The parties point to multiple examples in the Labor Code

" where the Legislature has provided a single penalty for a single violation,
and Defendant points to case law regarding single penalty situations —
none of which are PAGA’s default civil penalties. That is not the
language used in the subject civil penalty provision of PAGA. Oracle
could “fix” the problem, i.e., stop the violation, by prov1dmg a signed
written comrmssmn contract.

- Rather, Oracle’s argument actually goes to the issue of this Court’s
statutory authority under PAGA to exercise its discretion, undér Section
2699(e), to reduce the total amount of civil penalties under the
circumstances. That is not an issue for adjudication on motion for

_summary adjudication.

Lurking in the subtext is the determination as to whether the failure
to timely provide a written commission contract and the failure to provide
a signed written commission contract should be treated as one violation of

.Labor Code Section 2751 (i.e. failure to provide a signed written
commission contract upon commencing services) or should be treated as -
two violations of Labor Code Section (i.e., violation of Section 2751(a) -
and violation of Section 2851(b)) for purposes of calculating civil
penalties. Again, that is not the issue for determination on this motion —
which Plaintiffs explicitly admit, i.e., that the issue of “stacking”.of
pénalties is not presented by their motion.

Defendant Oracle’s Motion for Summary Adjudication of the
following issue: “Oracle cannot be assessed heightened PAGA penalties
for ‘subsequent’ violations of Labor Code sections 204, 221, 232, or 2751
unless Plaintiffs prove that a court or the Labor Commissioner previously
found that Oracle committed the same initial Labor Code violationson . .
which subsequent penalties are sought.” is DENIED. Defendant has over-
stated its position and the statements in case law — and therefore has not
precisely stated the standard under law. Inregard to what is the meaning
and effect of the undefined term “subsequent” — for purposes of PAGA
pénalties -- the threshold question is not whether a court or the State made
a prior formal finding or"adjudication of a Labor Code violation by that
employer; but — at most — that the employer had netice that its conduct
was in violation of the Labor Code.

On June 15, 2022, the U.S. Sﬁpreme Court issued its decision in Viking Cruises

Inc. v. Moriana (2022) 595 U.S. _; 142 S.Ct, 1906.
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Contrgry to its representations to the Court, Defendant never fileda “third”
motion for summary adjudication — of worked out a briefing scﬁedule —- as discussed and
ordered back in November 2021, J anuary»2022, March 2022, and Apﬁl 2022.
Accordingly, Défendant sucéessfully stalled the scheduling of the Phase Tﬁee Court
Trial, for deterfniﬁation of the extent Qf the viol%tions found by this Court ;co have
(;ccurred (iﬁ the prior Court Trials) as to otherl “aggrieved employees” and the amount of
civil penaltiéé to be awarded. instead, Defendant‘O;acle filed this Motion to Corhpel

Arl;itration of Plaintiffs’ Individual PAGA Clahﬁs and to Diémiss the Representative

PAGA claims on August 30, 2022.

Viking Ri’ver Cruises and the Cor;tin uing Unenforcea:bill;g) of PAGA
‘ Reptféséntative Clt;im Waiver
 Defendant Oracle asserts in its moving brief: “Viking River held that the Iskanian

rule is preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA) and that‘.anfarbitration agreement
containing a representative action waiver must be enforcedwith.the individual PAGA
claim ordered to arbitration and the representative PAGA claim dismissed.” This is
incorrect. On the contrary, the U.S. Sﬁpréme Court upheld California law that a PAGA
representative action waiver is not enforceable. |

The hblding in Vﬂdng Rivér waé that the F AA did ﬁot pr'eempt or bar any.
California statute or case law holding ,that a PAGA Arebres.entative action waiver is
unenforceable. Indeed, the US Supreme Court eéxtensively discussed the very

significant differences between a class action (and thus a class action waiver) versus a

PAGA representative action (and thus a PAGA representative action waiver).
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What the U.S. Supi'emé Court did hold is -thlat PAGA rei)'resentative claims are
nbt appropriate for arbitration, and that‘ the Califorrﬁé'Supferfm Court’s decision in
fskanianh —to this extent only — holding that “indiyiduél” claims of the plaintiff cannot be
separated, fér purposes of arbitrat_iéh,‘ from the representative cléims on behglf of other
"‘-_a_gg'rieved employees, is inconsisteht; with FAA The U;S. Sﬁpreme Court held that t}_ie’

“individual” élaim of the plaintiff can be contractually sulSj ect toiarbitration.

’_l"hus‘; fhe_question is whether Plaintiffs’ “individual” clairrié for civil penalties

under PAGA are subject to arbitration. | |
The Arbitration Provisions

Defeﬁdmt argues that Plaintiffs Maryam Abrishamcar and Kavi Kaput ilave
“individual” PAGA‘. claims that are sﬁbj ect to c;oritractual arbitraﬁ(?n, and that they thus
lack standing to pursue any PAGA I{epfcsenfafive claims. Dgafendants do nof assert that
the PAGA “Repreéentativ,e” claim§ are subject to contractual ;«ilrbitrétio_n.'

It iévundisputed that the Plaintiffs signed @nual compénsati;)n agreements, called:
Incentive Compensation Terms & Conditions, that iﬁcluded an arbjfratién provision in
Appendix 9 “Agfeemenf t;) Arbitrate Diéputes”. The State of California is not a party: to

| those agréeniénts. It states in pertinent part: |
" Employee and Oracle understaﬁd and agreé tﬁat, except as set forth
.below,»fany..existing or future dispute or clajm arising oui of or »rela’te'd' to
Employee’s Oracle empIOymenf, of the termiination of t'hatwemployment,
including but not limited to disputes ansmg _}u.nAder 'the;Pla"n, will be
resolved by ﬁnal ‘and binding arbitration and that no other forum for
diSpute resolqtidri will be available to either party; except as to those

claims identiﬁed below. The.defcision of the arbitrator-shall be final and
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l

b1nd1ng on both Employee and Oracle and 1t shall be enforceable by any
court havmg proper Junsdrctron
' Arbitration proceedings under this Agreement to Arbitrate
. Disputes shall be conducted pursuant to the Federal Arb1trat10n Act and in
accordance with the National Rules for the Resolutlon of Employment .'
" Dlsputes of the Amerrcan Arbitratlon Assoc1at10n or the Employment
' Arb1trat10n Rules and Procedures adopted by J ud1c1al Arbltratlon &
Medlatron Serv1ces (JAMS) Except as set forth below the arbitrator w1ll '
'have all the powers a judge would have in dealmg w1th any questlon or
d1sp_ute that may arise before, during and after the arbitratlon. . ..
" [None of the contractual exception apply_ here: ;- .
In Appendii( 9, Defendant Oracle also)inserted a class waiver and PAGA
: representative action vvaiver ‘that states in pertinent-part: : L
~ Any claim by Employee against Oracle which is subj ect to
arbltratlon under the terms of thls Agreement to Arb1trate disputes must be
brought in Employee S md1v1dual capac1ty and notasa plalntlff or-class -
member in any purported class collectrve representatlve mult1p1e
' plamtlffs or srrmlar non-1nd1v1dua1 proceedrng ( class actlon”) Employee
expressly waives any and all r1ghts to bring, partic_lpate in or maintain' in
: any forum any class action re'garding or raising claims whrch are subject to
' arb1trat10n under the terms of this Agreement to Arbltrate Disputes. The
) arbrtrator shall not have authonty to’ comblne or aggregate sumlar claims -
or conduct, or conduct any class actron or make an award to any person or

entity‘ not a party to the arbitration.' Any claim that all or part of the class.
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action waiver in this paragraph is qnenforceable or voidable may be -

detemed only by a court of competent jurisdiction and not by an

-arbitrato_r. .

’fhe Court finds that any “individual” claims by Plaintiffs for violations of t_he
Labor Code alleged in this lawsuit would be within the scope of the arbitration provision;
and that aﬁy representative claims or -ela_ims belonging to the State are expressly not
suﬁject to érbitration.

Iskanian Still Applies Such That PAGA Representative éla_ims are not
| Waived and Not Subjeet to Arbitration \

In Iskanian v. CL.S 'fransportation Los Angeles LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4" 348, the‘v
.California Supreme Court held that a class action waiver is enforceable, but a PAGA
Representative Action waiver is not enforceable. Specifically, the California Supreme
Court held that an employee’s righ;c to bring a PAGA action on behalf of the Stateis a
matter of public policy and is unwaivable. Iskanian, at pp. 382-384. The Califoﬁa
Supreme Court held that contractual waivers of bringing PAGA Representative Actioss
is in violation of Civil Code Section 1668, Civil Code Section 3513 and Labor Code
Section 2699(a). Iskanian, at pp. 382-383. “But whether or not an individual claim is
permissible under the PAGA, a pfohibition of representative claims frustrates the
PAGA’s ijectiyes.” Id., at p. 384 (emphasis original).

The California Supreme Court also held that PAGA and these Califerm'a statutes
forbidding the waiver of bringing a PAGA Representative action are not preempted by -
the Federal Arbitration Act. Iskanian, at pp. 384-387. “Simply put, a PAGA claim lies

outside the FAA’s coverage because it is not a dispute between an employer and an
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. employee arising out of their contractual relationship. It is a dispute betweerr an
employer and the state .. .” 1d., at p»p'.-;386-3 87.

In Viking Rivér Cruises, the U. S Supreme Court upheld the decision'i'n'Iskaniaﬁ

that PAGA Representatlve Actlons are e not wazvable and that the Cahforma statutes
| making PAGA unwalvable are not preempted by FAA
| “Nothmg in the FAA estabhshes a categorlcal rule mahdattng enforcernent of l' '
" waivers of standmg to assert claims on behalf of absent principals. | [Wje have ﬁe'{}ér
held that the FAA imposes a duty on States to render all forms of representatlve standmg :
walvable by contract ” V1k1ng R1ve 142 S Ct at P 1912 “The agreement between
V1k1ng and Morlana purported to waive representatlve PAGA clalms Under Iskaman
this provision Was invalid if construed as a wholesale waiver of PAGA clalms. And
- under our holvding,“ that aspect of Iskarztan is not p'reemptedby the FAA” Viking River,
at pp. 1924-1925: | | -
| | Dtsmtssal of Representatwe Clalms is Not Approprtate
In remandmg the case to the Cahforma Court of Appeal, the U.S. Supreme Court

suggested that the PAGA Representatlve claims would need to ‘be dlsmlssed -because
there was no named plamtlff with standmg —if the plalntlff’ s “1nd1v1dual” claim was
forced to go to arbltratlon V1k1ng Rlve at p 1925 But Cahforma courts are not
“subject to Artlcle I standmg requrrements The Concurrmg Oplmon by Justlce A
Sotomayor clarlﬁed that the U.S. Supreme Court has no authonty to decide state court
standmg issues: “Of course, 1f this Court’s understandlng of state law is wrong,
i Cahfomla courts | in an appropnate case‘ w111 have the last word " Viking River, at p.

:1925. This is consistent with estabhshed U.S. Supreme Court case law:
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We have no authority to construe the language of a state statute
more narrowly than the construction giveﬁ by that State’s highest court.
“The power to determine the meaning of a statute carries with it the power
to prescribe its extent and limitati-(‘)ns.as Wéll as the method by which they

shall be determined.” [Citation.]

City of Chicago v. Morales (1999) 527 U.S. 41, 61.

'Our California Supreme Court held in Kim v. Reins International California Inc.

(2020) 9 Cal.SAth 73, that a plaintiff does not lose stapding to pfosecute aPAGA -
Representative Actibn, é-ven. if that plainti»ff no longer has any individual claim. "The U.S.
Supreme Court’s backwards reading df Kim does not alter the California Supreme
Court’s ruling on PAGA sténding. Dismissal of thé PAGA Represéntative claims is
inappropriate and/or not required. ‘

~Although the Supreme Court suggests that under PAGA, Moriana
lost ,stanciing~ to pursue her non-individual ?AGA claims, ._becaﬁse .the
California Supreme Court is the final arbiter of Céli-forﬂia law, this Court
applies Kim s interpretation of PAGA standing to this case. [Citation.]
Shams vs}as employéd By Revature and alleges that she suffgred at lease
one of the- asserted PAGA'Labof Code violations, thuslshe is an aggrieved
employee ;Nith standing to pufsue penalties on the State’s_behalf.
[Citation.] Accordingly, the Court DECLINES to dismiss the non-

individual PAGA claims remaining in this case.

Shams v. Revature LLC (N.D.Cal. 2022) __ F.Supp.3d __; 2022 WL 3453068.
‘ There is also no reason or reqﬁirement for this Court to stay édjudication of the

“non-individual” PAGA Representative Claims, because any hypothetical arbitration of
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Plaintiffs’ “individual PAGA claim” would not be res judicata as to the State’s claims

_prosecuted via a PAGA Representative Action.. Gavriiloglou v. Prime Hea_lthcai*g

Management Inc. (2022) 83 Cal.App.5t 595.

Accordingly, regardless of whether or not Plaintiffs’ alfeged “individual” PAGA
_ claims might be subject to a;bitration,A itis ciear that the PAGA Representative claims on
" behalf of the State as to other aggrieved enip_loyee-s' qanndt be waived and are not subject
to arbitration under the Agrgemeﬁt. |

At oral argument,' Defendant Oréclé asseﬁed tﬁat the lé.nguage of the PAGA
statutes supports the a:glimént that if the “individual” claims ﬁc sent to mbitrétion, thaf |
the “representative” clgi_rﬁs cannot proceed becéuse tﬁere is no “plaintiff” — and that one
cannot proceed without the other. This Couﬁ need ﬁot reach that issue of ﬁfs‘; impression
because it is MOQ:T, as this Court finds that a;Bi@ation is not enforceable against the

individual Plaintiffs in the first place because this motion is untiinely.

Motion to Compel Arbitratio,tg After Comi‘heln.fc-ement‘of T riél‘is Untimely
Mott;on Jfor Arbitrdtion ‘Must_ Be Brought Before Trial
Under federal lé.w, any petition to c'ompel arbitration must be brought before trial
commences. ‘9 U.é.C. §4; see also 9 U.S.C. §3. Uhder Califofnia law, any petition or
motion to cbmpel arbiﬁatiion is als_é} cbn?emplatéd t0 be brouéghtvbefore trial. See Code of
Civil Procedure §1281.4.
A demand for arbitration after a trial has been he,id, or-adjudication of issues on
the merits, is contrary to the pﬁrposq and intent of contractual arbitration.
‘Such a démand for arbitration should not be entitled to

consideration. First, the most basic purpose of arbitration is to secure the
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_ speedy resolution of disputes. This purpOse would be undermined if a
party could litigate a dispute to final judgment, then demand urbitration.
Seeend, a party should not be permitted to speculate- ona favorable . .
judgment with the secret intention of moving the controversy to anotfler
forum if the judgment is adverse. Third, a party should not be permitted to
put another party to the expenset of protracted eourt preeeedings, only to
reject the consequences of the proceedmgs -

Construction Abitration Handbook (2" Ed 2022 update) §3:65 Waiver of right to

enforce arb1tret10n. |

In' Campagna v. Smallwood (Le.App. 1983) 428 So.2& 134, the appellate court
addressed the situation where 5 motion‘.folr stay or motion ;[o dismiss on the basis that
defendant had requested arbitration after the filing of a laws_uit.- The motion was denied,
~and the'cese proceeded to trial and judgment. On apueal; defendant assigned as error the
trial court’s faulure to dismiss the lawsuit and required arbitrutiun.‘ The Court of Appeal
affirmed the trial court. o

“The i)urpose of arbitration is to avoid costly and leugtﬁy iitigation and for speedy
resolutien of conﬁactual disputes. .[Citation.] ‘T'hat‘ purpose has long since been rendered
moot in this case. We aéfee that no purpose would be served By setting ~aside the
judgment and remanding for arbitraﬁon Campa; ggg at p. 1346.

| Arbttratwn After Change of Law Must Occur Before Trial

Defendant Oracle correctly points out that during the pendency of this PAGA
Representative action, the lCalifornja Supreme Court’s Iskanian decision applied, such
that this Court would have been bound to deny any motion to eompel arbitration of any

and all of the PAGA daims in this lawsuit. Defendant asserts that any such effort would
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have been fu"cile prior to Viking River, and that the passage of time since the filing of this
lawsuit should be deemed “irrelevant” to detemﬁnati_on of its motion to compel and
motion to dismiss. |

Defegd'ant states: “Courts have -compelled arbitration b'(ased on a change in the -
law years after the filing and litigation of a lawsuit in court” Defendant then cites to
.multiple cases as alleged support for its. position.

Unfortunately, none of the cases cited by Defendant addre'ss our eituation where a
motion to compel arbitration is filed after summary judgment motions have been ruled
upon and after Court Trial have been held and after Ad]udtcatzon of issues on the
mevits after Court Trial.. o

In Phillips v, Sprint PCS (2012) 209 Cal.Af)pAth 758, the court addressed a
motion-for reconsideration of a prior motion to compel arbitration. Although the case has
been litigated for eight years, of -that three years vvere spent on the pleadings, two more

years on class certification, and one year of a stay of proceedings. In Fisher v. A.G.

" Becker Paribas Inc. (9™ Cir 1986) 791 F. 2d 691, the case was litigated but no
adjudication of the merits. In [skanian, the three years~of litigation were regarding
adequacy of the pleadings and class certlﬁcatlon not the merits: In Flores v. West -

Covina Auto Group LLC, 151 Cal. Rptr.3d 481, an unpubhshed case (as review was

granted), the litigation had only involved the pleadings and discovery, not adjudication of

the merits. In Reyes v. Liberman Broad Inc., an unpublished case (as it was reviewed
and remanded for further action) again the litigati'on had only involved the pleadings and

discovery, and the matter was remanded for further determine by the lower court. In

Quevedo v. Macy’s Inc. (C:D.Cal. 2011) 798 F.Supp.Zd 1122, the motion to compel
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arbitration was raised in the éonteXt of a motion for class certification, i.e., well before
any trial settiiig. '

Sending this ca_lsé to arbitrati_,oii at thls procedural junction would be contrary to
comilion' sense, contrary to jucii_cial eédnomy, contraii'y to the public policies behind the
PAGA statutes, iind contiary to jurisprudence. ‘ | | |

California maxims-of jurisprildence support this interpretation of the arbitration
statutes: '“T'lie‘ law ileither";ioes nor requires idle acts.” C.C. §3 532. “Betwéen rights
otlierwise.eilu,al,- the earliest is pi'efeiréd.” C.C. §3525 . “Interpretation must be
reasonable.” C.C; §3542.. | |

Thati the law cha'ilged after the time that Defendant céulq haye' brought this
inotion does npi change the fact that it is untimely. The i:rain alie’ildy left the ’stzition.
‘Defcrendant is not éntitied'to ignore years-of litigation, discoveyy, and adjudication of
issues on :thé rr'ierits,' and then ask to start all over again via arB'iiration. There can be no

forum shopping after the fact.

Applicable Law on Waiver -~
Although not nég&ésséry, as this motion iNas found to bé untimely, should the

appellate court require a “waiver” analysis, one is provided in the alternative:

Code of Civil Procedure Section 1281.2(b) provides that a contractual right to
arbitration can be deemed waived. It can 4lso be deemed waived under the Federal

Arbitration Aci,- 9 U.S.C. §1 et seq.) FAA §3. The key decision by the California -

Supreme Court on the issue of waiver of the right to arbitration is St. Agnes Medical

_Center v. PacifiCare of California (2003) 31 Cai;4th 1187.
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While “waiver” generally denotes the voluntary relrnquishment ofa
known right, it can also refer to the tOSs of a.right as-a result of a party’s
, fai_lure’to perform an act it is required to perform, regardt_eSS of the party’s
intent to relinquishi the right. tCitations.] ‘In'the arbitration context, “the
term ‘waiver’ has -also been used as a‘shorthand staternent' for the
. conclusmn that a contractual rlght to arbitration has been lost ” [Cltatron ]
st Agr_re atp 1195 fn. 4. -

Both state and fede'ral law emphasize that no single'test delineates
the nature of the conduct that wrll constltute a waiver of arbitration.
A[Cltatrons ] “In the past Cahforma courts have found a waiver of the néht
to demand arbltratlon ina varlety of contexts, rangrng ';from s1tuat10ns in
which the »party A‘se'eking to conrpel arbitration‘has prevrously taken steps
mcons1stent with an mtent to mvoke arbltratron [crtatron] to instances in
which the petitioning party has unreasonably delayed in undertakmg the

' procedure [Cltatlon ] The de0151ons hkewrserhold that the “bad faith” or

“willful misconduct” of a party may constltute a waiver and thus justify a
refusal to compel arbltratlon [Cltatlons ]” [Cltatlons ]

_In Sobremonte v. Superzor Court (1998) 61 Cal. App 4t 980 .

- the Court of Appeal referred to the following factors: “In detenmmng
waiver, a court can con51der (1) whether the party s actlons are
mcons1stent with the nght to. arbitrate; (2) whether the 11t1gat10n machinery
has been substantlally_mvoked and the partles were well into preparation
of a lawsuit before the party notified the opposing party of an intent to

atbitrate; (3) 'whether a party either requested arbitration enforcement
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close to the trial date or delayed for a long period before seeking a stay;
(4) whether a defendant seeking arbitration filed a counterclaim without
asking for a stay of the proceedings; (5) Whetlier important intervening
steps [e. g taking ‘advantage of judicial dfscovery lprocedures not available
in arbitration] had taken place; and (6) whether the deléy affected,
mislead, or prejudiced the opposing party.” [Citations.] We agree these
factors are relevai_lt and property considered in assessing waiver claims.
St. Agnes, at p- 1196.
Whether Defendants’ actions are inconsistehi wzth the right to arbitrate
In this lawsuit, Defendant only alleged arbitration in footnotes to briefs, and not
as an affirmative defense or by a prio motion to compel mbiﬁation. Defendant has
actively participated in and used of court proceedings and li:;igation opportunities to
pursue its defense and their affirmative defenses. Over the past seven years, Defendant
has engaged in a multitude of actions that are inconsistent with the ﬁght to arbitrate.
Defendant’s actions afe certainly inconsistént with an assertioﬁ via a motion to compel
arbitration.
Whether the litigation machinery has been sui;stantially invoked
and the parties were well ihto preparation of a lawsuit before the
party notified the opposing party of an ,i’ntent to drbitrate;
This factor weighs in favor of a determination that the right to compel arbitration
has been waived. The active participation of Defendant in all aspects of litigation for
seven years, and in proceeding to a Court Trial on the merits, the Court finds that

Defendant substantially invoked the litigation machinery, and that the parties were well

25



_into p’rg:paration of a lawsuit, and indeed had already adjudicated >1iab_i1ity at a Court Trial,
at the time oif the filing of this motion..

AWhetl)zer D‘efendants requested arbitration enforcement close to

the trial date or delayed for ﬁ lon g ﬁerioé be‘fotjq seeking a stay

This fa‘tct'o'r weighs in févor ofa deterfnination that thg nght to compel arbitration .
has been waived. Defendénts,requested:arbitraﬁon ehfoi‘cemgntaft-er two Court Trials
had already Been co‘rlldu'ctéd,‘ and the third and final phase of Cc;urt Trial as to the amo'l'm;[
of civil penalties was Being set. |

Whetherbefendants ﬁled a co?uniercldim witﬁout asking fora
stay of t)_ze procéedin g5

There was no countérclaim by Defendant. -

) Whether»i‘n»zpo_rtant intervening steps [e.g., takin g advantage of
' judiéiql diSéoi:giy pi'ocedures hot availablé in arbitration] -héd
taken place - |

This factor weighs in favor of a; determination that the right to compei arbitration
has been waived. Deféndé.nf notes that the arbitration agreement ﬁa AAA or JAMS
provides for adequate civ-il discovery.

In this lawsuit, tﬁé' eﬁtire panoply of civil discovery op'pérmﬁities under the Code
of Civil Procedure were available to Deferidam;,‘ and Defendaﬁt actively propounded and
participated in civil discovery. That discovery included the issue of whether aggrieved
embloyees other than Plaintiffs were subjected to violations of the Labor Code, and

discovery of the scope and extent thereof for purpbses of éxpext witness determination of

potential civil penalties.
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In regard to use of the discovery procedures in litigation that would not be
available in arbitration, the First Appellate District in Oregal, held that defendant’s taking
of ‘depositions and other discovery on the issue of class certification was “conduct
inconsistent with arbitration” as class certification wou‘lci not have been an issue in
plaiﬁtiffs in&ividual arbitration. Id., at p. 359.

So t60 here, discovery was conducted regarding the circumstances of the
multitude of ‘faggrieved employees”, not just the individual named Plaintiffs, which
would not have been an issue in Plaintiffs’individual arbitrationx.

Whether the delay affected, mislead, or prejudiced the opposing parties

The request of Defendant to now dismiss the PAGA Representative Claims under
the authority of the State, after Court Trial thereof, would also affect and prejudice the
State — which relied upon the PAGA Representati\fe Action proceeding to trial after
seven years of litigation.

A corﬂponent is prejudice to the Plaintiffs. St. Agnes, at p. 1203. “Because
merely participétiﬂg in litigation, by itself, does not result in 2 waiver, courts will not find
prejudice where the party opposing arbitration shows only that it incurred court costs and
legal expenses. [Citations.]” Id., at p. 1203.

Rather, coﬁrts assess prejudice with th¢ recognition that

California’s arbitration statutes reflect “a strong public i)olicy in favor of

arbitrafii)n as a speedy and relaﬁvely inexpensive means of dispute

resolution” and are intended “to encourage persons who wish to avoid

delayé incident to a civil action to obtain an adjustment of their differences

by a tribunal of their own choosing.” [Citation.] Prejudice typically is

found only where the petitioning party’s conduct has substantially
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und‘erminéd this in;portaht public policy or subst,éntially impaired the
 other side’s ability to takekadvantage of the b;aneﬁts and efficiencies of
arbitration.
- For example, ;:ourts héve found pfejudi;:e where the petitioning
~ party used the judicial discovery i)rocesseé to gain informatioﬁ about the
- other side’s case that could not have been gained in arbitrétion [citations];
whether a party unduly delayed and waited until the eve of tr1a1 to Se@l%
arbitration [citation]; or where tﬁe 1éngth$f nature of the delays assodiéted
with the pétitioning party’s atte;ﬁipts to litigate resulted in lost evidence
[citation]. |
St. Agnes, at p. 1204. If defendant delajzs in bringing a motion to compel ‘érbitratioﬂ after
taking discov_eryl on matters }Vhi(_:h would not have been part of the &biﬁation
~ proceedings, the delay deprives the plaintiff of the uad'vantage of arbitration. Oregel, at p.

360; see also Spracher v. Paul M. Zagaris Inc. (2019) 39 Cal.App.5™ 1135, 1140

(“defendants’:defay resulftéd in pfejiudice to [plainﬁff] by causing her to expend
sigm'ﬁcémt time and resourcés while_c_lenying her the efﬁcieﬁcies of arbitration.”)

“Tme, Caliform'a has a strong bublic pélicy in»f‘avor of a;‘bitration. But that public |
policy is founded upon the ndtipn thz;lt‘ érbitration' is a ‘speedy énd relatively inexpensive
means of dispute resolqtion.’ tCitation.] That goal was ﬁ'ustra;ted by defendant’s
conduct.” Oregel, at p. 361. |

Here, the case proc-:eeded all the way througiz Court Trial, after seven years of
litigation. The prejudice to Piaintiffs is evident and severe, if Plaintiffs were required to -

start from scratch in adjudication of this case through arbitration.
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Federal Factors for Waiver
This Court is aware of and acknowledges the very recent decision of the First

Appellate District issued on October 31 2022 in Dayvis v. Shiekh Shoes LLC (2022) 84

Cal.App.5™ 956 In Shezkh Shoes, the Court of Appeal upheld the trial court’s decision

that the rlght to invoke contractual arbltratlon was waived when defendant employer ﬁled

a motion to compel arbitration 19 months afte'r the filing of the complaint? by plaintiff

lempleyee, éfter the parties'participated‘in discovery? and after the case was set .for trial.
The Coiu’; of Appeal held that federal laV\; under FAA applied to determine

waiver, rather than California law under St. Agnes, pursuant to the very recent decision of

the U.S. Supreme Court in Morgan v. Sundance Inc. (2022) __ U.S. _, 142 S.Ct. 1708,
“In its unanimous decisioﬁ the couI;t sided with the minorityv of the circuit courts and held
that under the FAA, courts may not condltlon a waiver of the right to arbitrate on a
showing of pre_]udlce ** Shiekh Shoes at *5. In Morgan the Supreme Court held that
prejudice was not a requzrement for waiver in general contract»ca_ses, and prejudice could
not be specially required in aetennining waiver of et)ntractual arbitration. Morgan, at p.
1713; Shiekh Shoee,' at *5. Accordingly the other factors set fo-rth in St. Agnes,® which

were based ﬁpon the federél decision in Péterson v. Shearson/American Express Inc. (10®

Cir. 1988) 849 F.2d 464, would still apply in determining waiver. Shiekh Shoes, at p. *6.

2 The Court of Appeal specificaily held that delay in seeking arbitration is
measured from the date the lawsuit is filed (or at best, the day that it was served), not the
date that the defendant filed their appearance. Sheikh Shoes at fn 7.

3 The Court of Appeal noted that the issue of whether prejudice is no longer a
required factor post-Morgan is presently before the California Supreme Court, as review
* was granted in Quach v. California Commerce Club (2022) 78 Cal.App.5® 470,
© S2751521. See Shiekh Shoes at fn. 5.
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But, “prejudice is no longer required to demonstrate a waiver of one’s right to arbitration,
and the waiver inquiry should instead focus on the actions of the holder of that right.” Id.

If the factor of prejudice is ignored from the prior analysis by this Court, the other
factors still weigh heavily in finding that Defendant waived any right to invoke ‘
contractual arbitration. Indeed, if prejudice is not required to Be shown, Plaintiffs’
position that Defendants have waived contfactual arbitration is even stronger.

DATED:  December 18, 2022 | W

HON. MARIE S. WEINER
JUDGE OF THE SUPERIOR COURT
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